IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAVIER RIGHETTI,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

NO. 7301

Electronically Filed
Apr 12 2018 01:15 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.
309 South Third Street, #226
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610
(702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY.
200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155
(702) 455-4711

ADAM LAXALT
Attorney General
100 North Carson Street
Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717
(775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

- A. Statute which grants jurisdiction to review the judgment: **NRS 177.015, NRS 177.055** (automatic appeal of first degree murder conviction where the death penalty was imposed). In this case, the Appellant was convicted of First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon and nine other felonies. The Appellant was sentenced to death for the murder conviction. (21 Record on Appeal 4690-92).¹
- B. Judgment of Conviction filed May 8, 2017 (21: 4686-92); Notice of Appeal filed by the District Court May 8, 2017, (21: 4701-02).
- C. This appeal is from a final judgment entered May 8, 2017. (21: 4686-92).

¹The Record on Appeal, prepared by the Clerk of the District Court, consists of 11199 pages organized into 51 volumes. After the first citation, all references to the Record will be in parentheses and will identify the volume number followed by the page number of the citation.

ROUTING STATEMENT

- D. Pursuant to NRAP 17, this matter is assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court because Rule 17(a)(2) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that an appeal of a criminal conviction where a death penalty is imposed shall be heard and decided by the Nevada Supreme Court

ISSUES

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT VIOLATED DUE PROCESS AND FAIR TRIAL GUARANTEES BY SETTING ASIDE A VALID GUILTY PLEA TO THE FIRST DEGREE MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON CHARGE ALLEGED IN AN INDICTMENT BASED ON ALTERNATIVE THEORIES OF GUILT; BY SETTING ASIDE THAT VALID PLEA WITHOUT ANY LEGAL JUSTIFICATION, THE COURT DENIED RIGHETTI THE BENEFIT OF ELIMINATING AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES PURSUANT TO MCCONNELL V. STATE.

When the State charges a crime and alleges alternative theories by which a jury can find liability for the alleged crime, it is axiomatic that a jury can make a finding of guilt based on any one of the alternative theories; therefore, logically, a finding of guilt based on a plea of guilty by a defendant can be based on any one of the alternative theories.

The District Court accepted the pleas entered by Righetti to all the crimes alleged in the Indictment, and the Court was aware that Righetti was pleading guilty to a certain theory of liability for murder, an option available to a defendant just as it is available to a jury.

The State, present when the entry of pleas occurred, aware of what was happening, insisted that the District Court go beyond the mere acceptance of the pleas and adjudicate the Defendant guilty of all the crimes. When the District Court adjudicated the Defendant guilty of all the crimes, the Court heightened the burden for any motion to withdraw or set aside the guilty pleas.

The State's Motion to Set Aside the Guilty Pleas failed to argue any cognizable legal theories to set aside the guilty pleas.

The state of mind of the State when a defendant pleads guilty without negotiations is irrelevant to the proceedings and may not be relied upon in setting aside the guilty pleas.

When the District Court set aside a validly entered plea of guilty to Count 10 alleging murder based upon nothing except the State's unhappiness with the state of the case, the District Court's decision effectively denied Righetti the benefit of *McConnell v. State*. *McConnell* should have eliminated six of the State's fourteen alleged aggravating circumstances.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT VIOLATED DUE PROCESS AND FAIR TRIAL GUARANTEES BY SETTING ASIDE THE FELONY MURDER GUILTY PLEA TO MURDER WITHOUT ALSO SETTING ASIDE THE FELONY PLEAS WHICH CONSTITUTED THE BASIS FOR THE FELONY MURDER LIABILITY.

III. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE TWO ALLEGED AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES OF TORTURE AND MUTILATION; AND THE TORTURE AND MUTILATION AGGRAVATORS MUST BE DISMISSED PURSUANT TO MCCONNELL BECAUSE THE FIRST DEGREE MURDER CONVICTION WAS BASED ON TORTURE.

The Failure to Prove the Torture or Mutilation Aggravating Circumstances

The Torture or Mutilation Aggravator Failed to Narrow Death Penalty Eligibility Because Torture Also Served as an Element of First Degree Murder; The Torture or Mutilation Aggravator Should Be Stricken.

IV. RIGHETTI'S DEATH SENTENCE WAS ARBITRARILY IMPOSED BECAUSE IT WAS BASED ON THE DOUBLE COUNTING OF AGGRAVATING FACTORS; AN ARBITRARY DEATH SENTENCE BASED ON DOUBLE-COUNTING AGGRAVATORS VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS' PROHIBITION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A grand jury charged Javier Righetti, in an Indictment filed October 7, 2011, with ten crimes.

Five allegations were based on acts perpetrated against alleged victim Mikaela Kitchen on March 8, 2011: Attempted Robbery, Battery With Intent to Commit Sexual Assault by Strangulation, First Degree Kidnapping, Attempted Sexual Assault With a Child Under Sixteen Years of Age, and Sexual Assault With a Child Under Sixteen Years of Age. (1: 1-3).

Five allegations were based on acts perpetrated, on September 2, 2011, against alleged victim Alyssa Otremba: Robbery With Use of a

Deadly Weapon, First Degree Kidnapping With Use of a Deadly Weapon, two counts of Sexual Assault With A Child Under Sixteen Years of Age With Use of a Deadly Weapon, and Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon. (1:3-6).

Righetti plead not guilty to the charges on October 20, 2011. (1:90-92).

The State filed, on October 14, 2011, a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty alleging fourteen (14) Aggravating Circumstances (1:12-20):

- (1) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b)**. (1:12). (The prior conviction was for Attempt Robbery against Mikaela Kitchen, which is alleged in Count 1 of the Indictment in this case (1: 2)).
- (2) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b)**. (1: 13). (The prior conviction was for Battery With Intent To Commit Sexual Assault, which is alleged in Count Two of the Indictment in this case (1: 2)).

- (3) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b).** (1:13-14). (The prior conviction was for First Degree Kidnapping Mikaela Kitchen, which is alleged in Count 3 of the Indictment in this case (1:2)).
- (4) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b).** (1:14). (The prior conviction was for Attempted Sexual Assault With a Child Under Sixteen Years of Age, against Mikaela Kitchen, which is alleged in Count Four of the Indictment in this case (1:3)).
- (5) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b).** (1:14-15). (The prior conviction was for Sexual Assault With a Child Under Sixteen Years of Age, against Mikaela Kitchen, which is alleged in Count Five of the Indictment in this case. (1:3)).

- (6) The murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of, or flight after, committing any robbery and the person charged killed the person murdered. (1:15-16). (This alleged aggravator concerned the circumstances relevant to the death of Alyssa Otremba).
- (7) The murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of, or flight after, committing any kidnapping in the first degree and the person charged killed the person murdered. (1:16-17). (This alleged aggravator concerned the circumstances relevant to the death of Alyssa Otremba).
- (8) The person subjected or attempted to subject the victim of the murder to nonconsensual sexual penetration immediately before, during or immediately after the commission of the murder pursuant to **NRS 200.033(13)**. (1: 17). (This alleged aggravator concerned the circumstances relevant to the death of Alyssa Otremba).
- (9) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b)**. (1: 17-18). (This aggravator is based on the charge of Sexual

Assault of Alyssa Otremba, which is alleged in Count 8 of the Indictment in this case. (1: 4)).

(10) The person subjected or attempted to subject the victim of the murder to nonconsensual sexual penetration immediately before, during or immediately after the commission of the murder pursuant to **NRS 200.033(13)**. (1:18). (This alleged aggravator concerned the sexual assault of Alyssa Otremba alleged in Count 8 of the Indictment in this case. (1: 4)).

(11) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b)**. (1:18). (This alleged aggravator concerned the sexual assault of Alyssa Otremba alleged in Count 9 of the Indictment (1:4)).

(12) The murder was committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest or to effect an escape from custody. **NRS 200.033(5)**. (1:19). (This allegation arises from the circumstances of Alyssa Otremba's death).

(13) The murder involved torture or mutilation of the victim. **NRS 200.033(8)**. (1: 19). (This allegation arises from the circumstances of Alyssa Otremba's death).

(14) The murder involved torture or mutilation of the victim. **NRS 200.033(8)**. (1: 20). (This allegation arises from the circumstances of Alyssa Otremba's death).

On February 11, 2016, the Appellant plead guilty to all ten charges alleged in the Indictment. (4: 747-68). The District Court accepted the guilty plea and adjudged the Appellant guilty of the crimes.

On February 16, 2016, the Appellant filed a Motion to Strike Aggravating Circumstances and Evidence in Aggravation, (4:701), which argued that Righetti's guilty plea to Murder, on February 11, 2016, was based on a felony murder theory of liability. (4: 707). Pursuant to **McConnell v. State**, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004), the State's alleged aggravating circumstances may not be based on the same felonies which were the basis for the felony murder liability resulting in the first degree murder conviction. Therefore, aggravating circumstances identified above as Numbers 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11, should be stricken and no evidence of those aggravating circumstances should be allowed in a penalty proceeding. (4: 708).

The State opposed the Motion to Strike (4: 814) and moved to set aside the guilty plea to the murder (4: 859).

On March 17, 2016, the District Court set aside the guilty plea to the murder charge. (6: 1164).

On June 17, 2016, the Appellant filed a Petition for A Writ of Prohibition/Mandamus, which sought a Supreme Court Order reinstating the February 11 guilty plea to the murder charge based on the felony murder theory. The Supreme Court denied the Petition. **Righetti v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.**, 133 Nev., Adv. Op. 7, 388 P.3d 643 (2-16-17).

The case proceeded to trial on March 6, 2017 (50: 11242) on the sole charge of Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon. The jury returned a guilty verdict on that charge on March 16, 2017 (51: 11263).

A penalty proceeding commenced March 17, 2017 (51: 11265) and the jury returned a verdict, on March 21, 2017, that the State had proved beyond a reasonable doubt certain aggravating circumstances, that certain mitigating circumstances existed, and that the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances. (51: 11271). The jury imposed the sentence of death for the murder charge. (51: 11271).

On May 8, 2017, the District Court sentenced Righetti to death for the murder charge and imposed prison sentences for the other nine felony

convictions. (51: 11273-75). A Judgment of Conviction and Notice of Appeal were filed that same day. (21: 4686-92, 4701-01).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant plead guilty to nine of the ten charged felonies in this case. The Appellant plead guilty to the murder charge and the plea was set aside over the Appellant's objection; The substantive facts of the crimes are not at issue in this appeal.

When deciding how to frame the allegations in the pleadings in this case, the State decided to charge multiple theories, as alternatives, to support the Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon charge in Count 10 of the Indictment. (1: 5).

The Indictment alleged the killing was an act of "willful, deliberate and premeditated" murder. **NRS 200.030(1)(a).**

As an alternative to the premeditation and deliberation theory, the State alleged the killing was "perpetrated by means of torture." **NRS 200.030(1)(a).**

As an additional alternative to the other theories, the State alleged the killing was "committed during the perpetration or attempted perpetration of robbery and/or kidnapping and/or sexual assault. **NRS 200.030(1)(b).** This was a felony murder allegation.

Logically, when a crime is charged using multiple alternative theories, guilt can be found for the charge based on guilt of any one of the alternatively charged theories. See generally **Bolden v. State**, 121 Nev. 908, 124 P.3d 191 (2005)(questioned by other cases on other grounds)(When alternative theories of liability are presented to a jury, guilt can be found based on any one of the alternatives).

Naturally, such logic should also apply when a defendant decides to plead guilty to a charged crime. Absent a statutory prohibition against a defendant having the same right as a jury in responding to a charging document, the same rules should apply to the jury and defendant.

Therefore, having originally plead, on October 20, 2011, not guilty to all the charges in the Indictment (1:91-92), Righetti filed a motion, on January 22, 2016, to change his pleas, plead guilty to all the charges, and proceed to a penalty phase proceeding in this death penalty murder case. (2: 288-94).

At a hearing on February 11, 2016, Righetti told the Court he wanted to plead guilty to all the charges in the Indictment without the benefit of negotiations. (4: 747).

After canvassing Righetti about his age, education, understanding of the charges in the Indictment, and the consequences of pleading guilty, the Court questioned Righetti about his guilt of the ten charges. (4: 748-750).

The Court asked the representatives of the State, who were present, to describe the potential sentences for each of the charged crimes. The State complied with the request and stated the potential consequences for each of the ten pleas. (4: 751-56).

Before accepting the pleas, the Court told Righetti he had to tell the Court what he did that made him guilty of each count. (4: 757). In other words, the Court wanted the record to reflect a factual basis for each plea.

Righetti provided a factual statement supporting liability for each of the first nine crimes alleged in the Indictment. (4: 758-63).

Regarding Count 10, Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon, where the State alleged felony murder and murder during torture as theories supporting liability, Righetti said, “[D]uring the course of the kidnapping, sexual assault, and robbery, I stabbed Alyssa Otremba causing her death.” (4: 764).

The Court replied, “And you did that—that act was fillful, deliberate, and premeditated—it’s the other theory—okay, it was perpetrated by means of torture, and/or committed during eh perpetration or attempt to

perpetration [sic] of robbery and/or kidnapping, and/or sexual assault?" (4: 764).

"Yes," Righetti replied. (Id.).

So the District Court accepted Righetti's guilty plea to Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon knowing the plea was based on two of the three possible prongs outlined by the State in the charging documents. The District Court knew the plea was NOT based on a deliberate and premeditated killing theory.

Before accepting the plea, the Court addressed the State directly:

THE COURT: Is the State satisfied with that?

MR. PESCI: Yes, Judge.

THE COURT: Okay. (4:764).

After discussing more aspects of a guilty plea to the Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon charge, the Judge again addressed the State:

THE COURT: Is the State satisfied?

MR. PESCI: Yes. (4:766).

The State, knowing the Defendant had plead guilty pursuant to two of the three murder theories alleged by the State in the Indictment, aware that they had waived any objection to the circumstances of the plea, asked the Court to not only accept the plea but to adjudicate the Defendant guilty of the crimes. (4: 766).

The Court accepted the pleas of guilty and adjudicated Righetti guilty of the ten crimes in the Indictment to which had plead guilty. (4: 767-68).

On February 16, 2016, the Defense filed a Motion To Strike Aggravating Circumstances and Evidence in Aggravation (4:701) which sought to strike, from the State's Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty, the following six aggravating circumstances alleged in the Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty:

(6) The murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of, or flight after, committing any robbery and the person charged killed the person murdered. (1:15-16). (This alleged aggravator concerned the circumstances relevant to the death of Alyssa Otremba).

(7) The murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of, or flight after, committing any kidnapping in the first degree and the person charged killed the person murdered. (1:16-17). (This alleged aggravator concerned the circumstances relevant to the death of Alyssa Otremba).

(8) The person subjected or attempted to subject the victim of the murder to nonconsensual sexual penetration immediately before, during or immediately after the commission of the murder pursuant to NRS

200.033(13). (1: 17). (This alleged aggravator concerned the circumstances relevant to the death of Alyssa Otremba).

(9) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b).** (1: 17-18). (This aggravator is based on the charge of Sexual Assault of Alyssa Otremba, which is alleged in Count 8 of the Indictment in this case. (1: 4)).

(10) The person subjected or attempted to subject the victim of the murder to nonconsensual sexual penetration immediately before, during or immediately after the commission of the murder pursuant to **NRS 200.033(13).** (1:18). (This alleged aggravator concerned the sexual assault of Alyssa Otremba alleged in Count 8 of the Indictment in this case. (1: 4)).

(11) The murder was committed by a person who had been convicted, prior to the penalty hearing of this case, of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. **NRS 200.033(2)(b).** (1:18). (This alleged aggravator concerned the sexual assault of Alyssa Otremba alleged in Count 9 of the Indictment (1:4)).

The logic supporting Righetti's Motion to Strike derived from **McConnell v. State**, 121 Nev. 25, 107 P.3d 1287 (2005), which held that the State cannot base an aggravating circumstance in a death penalty

prosecution on the same facts which are the basis of a felony murder prosecution in the same case. For example, if the Defendant was convicted of felony murder based on a robbery, then the State cannot allege as an aggravating circumstance the fact the Defendant was committing that same robbery when the killing occurred.

Righetti's motion, if successful, would have eliminated six of the fourteen alleged aggravators. (As noted below, this motion was rendered moot when the State responded to this motion by moving to have the guilty plea to the murder set aside; the District Court granted the State's motion and set aside the guilty plea).

On February 19, 2016, the Defense filed a Motion to Strike the Torture and Mutilation Aggravators, two additional aggravators. (4: 776). If this motion was granted, along with the motion to strike the other aggravators, then a total of eight of the fourteen alleged aggravators would have been eliminated. The District Court denied the motion on March 17, 2016. (6: 1145).

On February 23, 2016, the State filed an Opposition to the Motion to Limit the State's Evidence of Aggravation. (4: 820).

On March 2, 2016, the State filed a Motion to Reject [sic] the Defendant's Guilty Plea to Murder Count. (4: 859). Since the Court had

already accepted the guilty plea to murder, and the Court, at the State's insistence, had adjudicated Righetti guilty of Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon, the State should have filed a Motion to Set Aside the Court's Adjudication of Guilt. A hearing was held March 17, 2016 (6: 1139, 1145-69), and the District Court granted the State's motion. (6: 1164).

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