IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAVIER RIGHETTI,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Sep 05 2018 04:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 73015

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

HOWARD S. BROOKS Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #003374 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Second, Appellant never, despite multiple opportunities, asked the district court to withdraw his pleas to Counts 1 through 9, and he may not raise this issue for the first time on appeal.

Third, there was sufficient evidence to support the single 'torture *or* mutilation' aggravator charged by the State, where the evidence demonstrated that Appellant stabbed Alyssa over eighty times to feel like a "thug" and "gangster" before setting her body on fire, partially destroying her face and right leg. Moreover,

since the jury did *not* return a verdict finding that the murder had been committed by means of torture, Appellant's claim that the court should have stricken the torture or mutilation aggravator pursuant to <u>McConnell</u> is without merit.

Fourth and finally, Appellant's claim that the State 'double-counted' aggravating circumstances is without merit, since the State only introduced one aggravator for each of Appellant's sexual assaults on Alyssa Otremba, as demonstrated by the penalty phase jury instructions and the penalty phase special verdict, which included eleven aggravating circumstances for the jury to consider.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SELECT THE THEORIES OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER TO WHICH HE INTENDED TO PLEAD GUILTY

Appellant first claims that the district court, "without any legal justification," abused its discretion and violated due process and fair trial guarantees by setting aside Appellant's guilty plea as to Count 10 because Appellant was entitled to select the theories of first degree murder to which he pleaded guilty. AOB at 23-32. These theories – felony murder and first degree murder by torture – would have entitled Appellant, under McConnell, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606, to strike six aggravating circumstances. AOB at 23-32. Appellant adds that the district court "set aside the plea based on no cognizable legal reason" after the State filed "a nonsense motion alleging no cognizable legal theory to set aside the plea." AOB at 32. This claim is

without merit and is barred by the doctrine of res judicata and the doctrine of law of the case.

The doctrine of res judicata precludes a party from re-litigating an issue which has been finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. Exec. Mgmt. v. Ticor Titles Ins. Co., 114 Nev. 823, 834, 963 P.2d 465, 473 (1998) (citing Univ. of Nev. v. Tarkanian, 110 Nev. 581, 598, 879 P.2d 1180, 1191 (1994). "The doctrine is intended to prevent multiple litigation causing vexation and expense to the parties and wasted judicial resources..." Id.; see also Sealfon v. United States, 332 U.S. 575, 578, 68 S. Ct. 237, 239 (1948) (recognizing the doctrine's availability in criminal proceedings).

Moreover, "[t]he law of a first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same," and the doctrine of the law of the case "cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975). This Court's holding on an issue in a decision granting or denying a writ of mandamus precludes a party from re-litigating that issue subsequently in a direct appeal. Price v. State, 409 P.3d 889 (Nev. Unpub., September 29, 2017). In Price, this Court found that its holding on an issue on a writ of mandamus precluded the defendant from re-litigating the issue on direct appeal under the doctrine of law of the case.

Here, Appellant claims that, because a jury can find a defendant guilty on any of the charged alternative theories of liability, "a defendant can certainly plead guilty to one theory of an array of theories constituting alternative paths to criminal liability." AOB at 25-26, 26. In an artful feat of contrived ignorance, Appellant manages to omit *any* mention of this Court's February 16, 2017, Order, which denied Appellant's Petition for Writ of Mandamus *on this very issue*.³

Despite Appellant's lengthy attempt to circumvent this Court's prior order denying his Writ of Mandamus, Appellant is still bound by this Court's ruling on the same claim he now brings on appeal. In denying mandamus, this Court ruled as follows:

Δ

Some background is helpful to place the legal issues presented by this petition in context. In McConnell, we held that if a defendant is found guilty of first-degree murder under a felony-murder theory, the prosecution may not use the same felony underlying the felony-murder as an aggravating circumstance to make him eligible for the death penalty. 120 Nev. at 1069, 102 P.3d at 624. In Wilson, we clarified that the rule announced in McConnell did not apply where a defendant pleaded guilty to a murder count alleging both felony-murder and premeditated murder. 127 Nev. at 744, 267 P.3d at 60. Righetti interpreted these holdings to create a loophole: If he pleaded guilty to felony-murder but specifically did not plead guilty to premeditated murder, his case would fall outside of Wilson and he could take advantage of the rule

2

While Appellant does note that this opinion exists, his *only* mention of this Court's fifteen-page order is one sentence in his Statement of the Case: "The Supreme Court denied the Petition." AOB at 19.

in <u>McConnell</u>. But to advance his reading of <u>McConnell</u> and <u>Wilson</u>, Righetti first had to enter a guilty plea to only two theories of first-degree murder when three were charged. Righetti concluded that so long as he pleaded guilty to the murder count he was free to select the theories of murder upon which to base his guilty plea, regardless of whether the State consented—the position he advances before this court.

В.

Although the facts of this case are unusual, the legal issues are straightforward. In our adversarial system, the State has an almost exclusive right to decide how to charge a criminal defendant, Parsons v. Fifth Judicial Dist. Court, 110 Nev. 1239, 1244, 885 P.2d 1316, 1320 (1994), overruled on other grounds by Parsons v. State, 116 Nev. 928, 936, 10 P.3d 836, 841 (2000), see also Bordenkircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357, 364 (1978), which includes the authority to allege that a defendant committed an offense by one or more alternative means, NRS 173.075(2). While a criminal defendant has a statutory right to tender a guilty plea, NRS 174 .035(1), he does not have a right to plead guilty à la carte in order avoid the State's charging decisions. Indeed, we have rejected attempts to do just that, holding that a defendant's statutory right to plead guilty does not entitle him to plead guilty to a lesserincluded offense without the State's consent. Jefferson v. State, 108 Nev. 953, 954, 840 P.2d 1234, 1235 (1992). To hold otherwise and allow such a plea would be to 'undermine[] prosecutorial discretion in charging and the state's interest in obtaining a conviction on the other charges, which may be the more 'serious' charges.' State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Hedland), 116 Nev. 127, 138 n.10, 994 P.2d 692, 699 n.10 (2000).

The same logic applies when a defendant seeks to enter a guilty plea to only some of multiple theories supporting a charge. State v. Bowerman, 115 Wn.2d 794, 802 P.2d 116, 120 (Wash. 1990) (holding that a defendant does not have a right to plead guilty to only one theory of guilt when alternative theories are charged), disapproved of on other grounds by State v. Condon, 182 Wn.2d 307,

343 P.3d 357, 365 (Wash. 2015). In either instance, permitting a defendant to enter a guilty plea that does not conform to the charges as alleged in the charging document circumvents the State's charging authority and forces the State to amend the charging document and accept a deal it never offered. Id. And permitting a district court to accept such a guilty plea would allow the judiciary to invade a realm where the executive branch maintains almost exclusive control, in violation of separation-of-powers principles. See Nev. Const. art. 3, § 1 ("The powers of the Government of the State of Nevada shall be divided into three separate departments,—the Legislative,—the Executive and the Judicial; and no persons charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments shall exercise any functions, appertaining to either of the others."); Sandy v. Fifth Judicial Dist. Court, 113 Nev. 435, 440, 935 P.2d 1148, 1150-51 (1997) (observing that a district court runs afoul of the separation-of-powers doctrine when it invades the prosecutor's legitimate charging authority).

C.

Rejecting, as we do, Righetti's argument that he could plead guilty to two of the three theories alleged without the State's consent, we turn next to his assertion that the State explicitly or implicitly consented to his nonconforming guilty plea, which stands on similarly shaky ground. He first claims that the prosecutors in this case agreed to let him enter his plea fully understanding that he had not admitted guilt to each theory of murder alleged in the indictment. This contention is belied by the record. As the district court found, the transcript does not capture the miscommunication that occurred due to the nonverbal interaction initiated by Righetti's attorney—an interaction the prosecutor did not see. Substantial evidence supports this finding.

. . . .

Regardless, we agree with the State that there was no reason to object because Righetti necessarily admitted that he committed a willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder when he pleaded guilty. Righetti places undue

emphasis on the statements he made (or did not make) when asked to give a factual basis for his plea. Soliciting a factual basis is simply one of several ways for a district court to ensure that a defendant is pleading guilty voluntarily and intelligently; it does not operate to limit the charges or theories to which a defendant is admitting his guilt. State v. Gomes, 112 Nev. 1473, 1480-81, 930 P.2d 701, 706 (1996) (explaining that although it is "preferable" for the district court to elicit from a defendant an admission that he committed the charged offense, the defendant need only have an understanding of the nature of the charges alleged). Rather, a defendant who pleads guilty without the benefit of a negotiated agreement necessarily admits all of the factual and legal elements included in the charging document. United States v. Broce, 488 U.S. 563, 570, 109 S. Ct. 757, 102 L. Ed. 2d 927 (1989) ("A guilty plea is more than a confession which admits that the accused did various acts. It is an admission that he committed the crime charged against him." []): accord United States v. Allen, 24 F.3d 1180,1183 (10th Cir. 1994) ("[A] defendant who makes a counseled and voluntary guilty plea admits both the acts described in the indictment and the legal consequences of those acts." (footnote omitted)).

. . . .

Here, the indictment alleged that Righetti committed murder under three theories—torture murder, felony-murder, and willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder—and Righetti pleaded guilty to the murder charge alleged in the indictment. *Despite his carefully choreographed statements during the plea canvass, Righetti necessarily admitted that he committed the charge as alleged in the indictment by pleading guilty.* [United States v. Brown, 164 F.3d 518, 521 (10th Cir. 1998)]; see also Broce, 488 U.S. at 570.

D.

Because Righetti purported to enter a nonconforming guilty plea without the State's consent, express or implicit, the district court lacked the authority to accept it. See generally Sandy, 113 Nev. at 440, 935

P.2d at 1150-51; Cox v. State, 412 So. 2d 354, 356 (Fla. 1982) (holding that a guilty plea was invalid where state statute precluded a trial court from accepting a plea to a lesser-included offense without the consent of the prosecuting attorney). And, as Righetti disavows having had any intention of pleading guilty to premeditated murder when he offered his plea, the district court should have rejected it on that basis as well. See generally Gomes, 112 Nev. at 1480, 930 P.2d at 706 ("In order to be constitutionally valid, a plea of guilty or nolo contendere must have been knowingly and voluntarily entered." (internal quotation marks omitted)). Thus, the district court acted appropriately when it revoked its acceptance of Righetti's guilty plea before his penalty hearing. See People v. Bartley, 47 N.Y.2d 965, 393 N.E.2d 1029, 1029, 419 N.Y.S.2d 956 (N.Y. 1979) (recognizing a court's power to revoke its improper acceptance of a plea before sentencing); People v. Clark, 264 Cal. App. 2d 44, 70 Cal. Rptr. 324, 326 (Ct. App. 1968) (same); see also United States v. Britt, 917 F.2d 353, 358 (8th Cir. 1990) (recognizing that manifest necessity may permit a court to set aside a guilty plea over a defendant's objection).

Righetti, 134 Nev. at ___, 388 P.3d at 647-49 (emphasis added).

Appellant is thus merely regurgitating the claim that was already litigated and denied by this Court in February 2017. Despite his lengthy argument to the contrary, as determined by this Court, Appellant is not entitled, when pleading guilty to the Indictment without negotiations, to choose the theory of first degree murder under which to plead. As this issue is barred by res judicata and by the doctrine of the law of the case, Appellant's claim should be denied.

///

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN NOT SUA SPONTE SETTING ASIDE APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEAS AS TO THE REMAINING COUNTS PERTAINING TO ALYSSA OTREMBA

Appellant next claims that the district court erred in not setting aside "all the pleas because the pleas were not made in isolation of each other [and] were intertwined," as Appellant attempted to plead guilty to first degree murder based on a felony murder theory, pursuant to Counts 6 through 9 of the Indictment. AOB at 33.

It is Appellant's responsibility to provide relevant authority and cogent argument, and when Appellant fails to adequately brief the issue, it will not be addressed by this court. Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 672-73, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987). The appellate court cannot consider matters not properly appearing in the record on appeal. Tabish v. State, 119 Nev. 293, 296, 72 P.3d 584, 586 (2003). Given the lack of factual support as well as the lack of any legal authority whatsoever (see AOB at 33), this Court should not even consider this claim.

However, to the extent this Court deems it fit to nonetheless consider Appellant's one-page claim, the State would note that Appellant *never* moved to withdraw the pleas as to Counts 1 through 9 after this Court affirmed the district court's order reversing the guilty plea as to Count 10. Nor does Appellant even

claim that he *did* move to withdraw his pleas.⁴ See AOB at 33. As Appellant never moved to withdraw his pleas, the district court did not consider the motion, and this Court should likewise not consider Appellant's argument that he should have been entitled to withdraw his pleas for the first time on appeal. Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 584 (1992), cert. denied, 507, U.S. 1009, 113 S. Ct. 1656 (1993) ("Because appellant failed to present these hearsay exceptions at trial, the trial court had no opportunity to consider their merit. Consequently, we will not consider them for the first time on appeal"); Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991) ("This ground for relief was not part of appellant's original petition for post-conviction relief and was not considered in the district court's order denying that petition. Hence, it need not be considered by this court"). Appellant's claim is thus waived.

However, should this Court nonetheless wish to review Appellant's unclear and unsupported claim that the district court should have <u>sua sponte</u> rejected all his guilty pleas, it should only do so for plain error. A defendant's failure to object to an issue at trial generally precludes appellate review of that issue unless there is plain

It is Appellant's responsibility to provide relevant authority and cogent argument, and when Appellant fails to adequately brief the issue, it will not be addressed by this court. Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 672-73, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987). The appellate court cannot consider matters not properly appearing in the record on appeal. Tabish v. State, 119 Nev. 293, 296, 72 P.3d 584, 586 (2003).

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